1953

Hyrum Jenkins and Belle Moyle Jenkins v. John B. Morgan et al : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF UTAH

HYRUM JENKINS and BELLE
MOYLE JENKINS, his wife,
Plaintiffs and Appellants,

— vs. —

JOHN B. MORGAN, WILLIS MOR-
GAN, ALBERT MORGAN, BERT
MORGAN, ETHEL G. MORGAN,
M. L. BUXTON and MILO BUR-
RASTON,
Defendants and Respondents.

Case No.
7826

Appellants' Brief

THE FACTS

This is an appeal by the plaintiffs, Hyrum Jenkins and Belle Moyle Jenkins, his wife, from a judgment in favor of the plaintiffs and against the defendants in the sum of \$24.00, together with interest thereon at 6% per annum from and after September 2, 1947 and their costs in the sum of \$....., which judgment is dated January 10, 1952.

This action was commenced by the plaintiffs filing an action against John B. Morgan, Willis Morgan, Al-

bert Morgan, Bert Morgan, Ethel G. Morgan, M. L. Buxton and Milo Burretson, the latter two being bondsmen on a supersedeas bond on appeal in the sum of \$1,000, bearing date of September 2, 1947, which was in case No. 14026 of the Fourth Judicial District Court, or Supreme Court, Case No. 7108. Judgment in that cause was entered in favor of the plaintiffs and against defendants for quiet title to certain properties and the defendants, except these bondsmen aforesaid, filed a notice of appeal and said defendants, including the two bondsmen, did on the 3rd day of June, 1947, file a \$300 cost bond and the defendants did on the 5th day of June, 1947, including the bondsmen, did file \$100 supersedeas bond based on an order fixing the amount of undertaking the bond on appeal in an ex parti matter before the court on the 10th day of June, 1947. Motions were duly filed by the plaintiffs for exception to sureties and reconsideration of the amount of bond. The Hon. Joseph E. Nelson did on the 27th day of August, 1947, call up for reconsideration on motion of plaintiffs the determination of the amount of undertaking of bond on appeal based upon the affidavit of plaintiffs that it was their desire to have the ground made available to them for breaking of the ground and the planting to grain which would mature and be harvested in 1948, and that the value of said ground was the sum of \$20.00 per acre. Further that plaintiff had made arrangements for the drilling for water on said ground, and that the plaintiffs during the period of appeal desired the property for agricultural purposes. At this hearing plaintiffs adduced evidence of the availability of the ground for agricul-

tural purposes and the matter was continued to September 2, 1947, at which time plaintiffs adduced further evidence showing the availability for breaking the 160 acres of ground under question and the drilling for water, and on said date the Hon. Joseph E. Nelson did order the increase of bond to \$1,000; that the defendants, including the bondsmen, did then file a new supersedeas bond in the sum of \$1,000 on the 2nd day of September, 1947.

The costs incident to the appeal in case No. 7108 were paid by the defendants, but no money was paid by reason of the withholding of the ground from the plaintiffs between September 2, 1947 and August 16, 1948 when this court did render its decision in case No. 7108, affirming the decision rendered by the Hon. Joseph E. Nelson. This action was then brought upon the bond of the defendants for the value of the use of the withholding on the part of the defendants, between September 2, 1947 and the 9th day of September, 1948, upon which date the remittitur in case No. 7108 was docketed in the Fourth District Court.

Trial in this matter was had on November 26, 1951 and December 3, 1951 and the judgment of this court in the sum of \$24.00 in favor of plaintiff was entered on January 10, 1952, from which this appeal is taken.

The issue involved is whether or not the measure of damage of the value for use for the withholding of the property by the defendants from the plaintiffs is to

be based upon the value of use as grazing ground, which is the position which the trial judge took in this matter or the value of the use as agricultural ground.

David S. Powelson, called as a witness for the plaintiff, testified that he knew this particular property during his lifetime and that his business was that of a farmer all his life in and about the Goshen area; that he had been on this particular ground involved in the years 1946 and 1947 with the intent of purchasing the ground from the plaintiffs, and that he did enter into a contract with the plaintiffs for the purchase of the same on May 17, 1947. (R. 27-28). That this witness did receive the 160 acres of ground in question on December 6, 1948, in accordance with the agreement entered into with the plaintiffs (R. 33); that after receiving the property he broke the ground in August of 1949 (R. 34); that he likewise drilled for water and obtained the same and that a crop was planted in the spring of 1950 (R. 36) and that a harvest was made in 1950 (R. 36); that of said harvest approximately 75 or 80 acres was in dry land wheat and 30 acres was in irrigated wheat; that the 80 acres of dry farm wheat yielded 15 bushels per acre and the 30 acres of irrigated grain yielded 40 bushels per acre. (R. 37). That during the year 1946, or 1947, this witness went onto the property in question with Mr. Marcellus Palmer, a land specialist, to determine the depth and quality of the soil (R. 38-39). That the reasonable rental value of this 160 acres of ground for farming purposes was worth \$30.00 per acre on the irrigable ground (R. 42) and on the non-irrigable ground

the reasonable rental value per acre was \$10.00 per acre. (R. 42-43). That there was 25 acres of irrigated potatoes. (R. 44).

Hyrum Jenkins called as a witness and identified the agreement with David S. Powelson (Ex. B) (R. 60) and then identified a photostatic copy of deed to David S. Powelson and Arnold Dewitt Trotter deeding the property in question (Ex. C.R. 60).

Marcellus Palmer called as witness for plaintiff stated his qualifications as an expert and that in August of 1947, he made a detailed examination of the property in question. (R. 76). On this examination he made six soil tests to a depth of four feet and described the forage and vegetation then growing on the land (R. 77). He testified that for dry land agriculture a yearly rental value per acre would be about \$10 per acre and if it were used for irrigated agriculture about \$30.00 per acre. (R. 82). On cross examination he testified that rentals are based upon about 50% for the type of crops, wheat, alfalfa, barley or oats. (R. 83).

David S. Powelson recalled to the stand identified Ex. "E" an assignment of his interest to the plaintiff. (R. 91). On cross examination witness testified that he rented comparable land in 1948 and 1949 for \$30 per acre which land was under irrigation. (R. 93). That the ground under question approximately 30 years ago had been planted to corn. (R. 95). That the dry farm ground was broken up in August of 1949 and drilled for water

which was obtained in the spring of 1949. (R. 97). That grain was planted in the ground dry farm in 1949 and the irrigable land planted in the spring of 1950. (R. 98). That the cost of producing water per acre is about \$2 per acre. (R. 103).

John B. Morgan, one of the defendants, called as witness for plaintiffs, was present in Court on September 2, 1947 in Judge Nelson's Court Room when the Judge ordered the bond in this case raised to \$1000. (R. 106-107). And he was present in Court when Mr. Jenkins testified that he desired possession of the ground for the purpose of having the same broken and drilled for water. (R. 113). That he did not remember Mr. Monsen testifying as to his agreement to break the ground. (R. 114). And that he did recall Mr. Jenkins testifying that he desired the use of the ground for agricultural purposes. (R. 114-115).

Willis Morgan, called as witness for plaintiffs, was present in Court on August 27, 1947 when Mr. Richard Trotter testified that he was ready, willing and able under an agreement at that time to break this 160 acres of ground. (R. 117-118) and he likewise had a recollection of hearing Mr. Jenkins testify at the trial on the bond matter. (R. 118).

Albert Morgan, a defendant called as a witness for the plaintiffs, testified that he had been experimenting with dry farm wheat on adjacent property planted in the fall of 1950 and harvested in 1951 and the ground

yielded right near 9 bushel per acre. (R. 122). That he likewise has filed an application for drilling for water on said ground and hoped to get 3 or 4 feet of water. (R. 123).

Bert Morgan, a defendant, called on behalf of plaintiffs, remembered being in Court on August 27, 1947 when Mr. Trotter testified to his ability and willingness under an agreement to break the ground then known as the Jenkins property and was likewise present on September 2, 1947 when Hyrum Jenkins testified that he desired the ground for agricultural purposes. (R. 137).

Dewitt Trotter, a witness called for plaintiffs, testified that the ground was first broken in 1949 and that it would take approximately 30 days to break and prepare the ground. (R. 150). That Mr. Monsen broke the ground with a wheat land plow and the first crop was planted in the early spring of 1950. That he planted dry land wheat to 80 acres, 47 acres of irrigated wheat and 20 acres of potatoes. (R. 154). That from the dry farm wheat they received a little over 1200 bushels and irrigated wheat 1885 bushels. (R. 155).

Raymond E. Monson, testifying for plaintiff, stated that on September 2, 1947 he was ready, willing and able to go on the land in question and break the same. (R. 161). That between September 9, 1948 and January 1, 1949 he was tied up on another contract and was not available with his heavy type of equipment to break this ground. That in the months of October, November and

December, 1948, the snow came early and hindered him in the breaking of ground and that had he been on the ground on October 1, 1948, with a snow fall on the same he could not have completed the breaking of the ground. (R. 163). That 80 acres of the ground broken was of tall sage brush, higher than his head and that from his experience as a farmer the ground broken was adaptable and very fine for wheat. (R. 165).

A certified copy of the application for drilling for water on this ground (Ex. "G") was received. (R. 174).

David S. Powelson, recalled to the stand, stated that he had agreed to lease the property in question from October 1, 1947 to September 1, 1948 to one Ken Tachiki for \$30 per acre with water on and \$10 per acre for the dry farm ground. (R. 246).

The defendants called 10 witnesses including the defendants as to the value of grazing ground in the area.

At the conclusion of the testimony the defendants moved to strike all the testimony of the plaintiffs as to:

1. Any intended use of the land other than the established use to which it was deemed put at the time the supersedeas bond was filed.

2. All testimony of plaintiffs and his witnesses touching the question of what had been done with this property since the deed was made from Jenkins to Powelson and Trotter on December 6, 1948.

3. All testimony of plaintiffs and his witnesses that had to do with special damages.

4. All testimony pertaining to an oral contract or conversation between Powelson and the Jap which was received as bearing on the rental value or value of the use of the property.

The Court ruling on said motion overruled the same on grounds 1 and 3 as stated and granted the motion to strike as to grounds 2 and 4.

The Court at this time gave his oral decision in which he stated:

“The affidavit in support of the motion for an increase of bond specifically drew the defendants’ attention to the fact that the plaintiff had on the 26th day of February, 1947, made arrangements for the breaking of the land concerning which the judgment was entered.

The Court finds that by the filing of the affidavit the defendant had full knowledge of that arrangement. The Court finds that because of the supersedeas the plaintiff was deprived of the possession of the land.

The Court finds that at that time the land was unbroken, uncultivated and undeveloped native pasture land and finds that the reasonable rental value of that ground was 15c per acre per year and that there were 160 acres of ground.

For the use and occupancy of the ground within the contemplation of the parties and based upon the ordinary basis of recovery the plaintiff is entitled to judgment against the defendants and each thereof for the sum of \$24.00.

The Court further finds that there is insufficient evidence in this record by which the Court could determine any damages to the plaintiff specially by reason of the arrangement that had been made by the plaintiff prior to the placing of the supersedeas bond for the breaking, development and cultivation of that ground; and that because there is no evidence upon which the Court could measure such damages, special damages are denied.”

STATEMENT OF POINTS RELIED UPON

POINT I.

THAT THE COURT ERRED IN DETERMINING THE MEASURE OF DAMAGE ON THE BASIS OF GRAZING GROUND INSTEAD OF AGRICULTURAL GROUND.

POINT II.

THAT THE COURT ERRED IN STRIKING TESTIMONY WHICH WAS PERTINENT TO DETERMINE THE VALUE OF THE USE OF THE GROUND.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THAT THE COURT ERRED IN DETERMINING THE MEASURE OF DAMAGE ON THE BASIS OF GRAZING GROUND INSTEAD OF AGRICULTURAL GROUND.

In *Park vs. Moorman Mfg. Co., et al.*, 241 Pac. 2d, 914, Utah, Justice McDonough at page 920 said:

“The fundamental principle of damages is to restore the injured party to the position he would have been in had it not been for the wrong of the other party.”

In *Moorhead vs. Minneapolis Seed Co.*, 165 N. W. 484, L. R. A. 1918C, 391. The Court at page 394, said:

“The object of the law is to furnish a measure which will give, as near as may be, actual compensation for the breach, and which is free of uncertain, contingent, conjectural or speculative elements. When damages are based upon the value of the use of the land the uncertainty of amount because of uncertainty of crop results is eliminated, and they may be assessed forthwith. We are of the opinion that when the failure of crop is entire, because of failure of germination, the damages should be based on the value of the use, with additions and deductions suiting the conditions of the particular case. The objection suggested by the plaintiffs that there was no fixed rental value in North Dakota is without substantial merit. There need be no market rental value. It is enough if the use value is determined, and that may be found without the aid of a market value. Farmers and others qualified to testify may furnish proof of value.”

In the case of *Pritchard Petroleum Co. vs. Farmers Co-op Oil & Supply Co.*, 190 P. 2d 55, 121 Mont. 1, Justice Gibson at page 58 said:

“The action afforded by the statute is to recover the value of the use of the property for the period of its wrongful detention, not exceeding the time fixed by the statute. The value of the use is the value to the owner of the property, not

its value to the wrongdoer. Compensation is the purpose and basis of the action.”

We cite *Sedwick on Damages*, 8th Ed., Volume 1, Sec. 252, page 376 as follows:

VALUE FOR A PARTICULAR USE

“The value of property is to be estimated with reference to the most remunerative use for which it is adapted. So in *N. J.*, where the value of a horse was in question, Whelpley, C. J. said in *Farrell vs. Colville*, 30 *N. J.*, L. 123, 127, ‘They were entitled to have the value of the horse as a horse to be used in their business, and fitted for that use. Perhaps he would not have been worth anything as a fast trotter or as a gentleman’s carriage horse, because not adapted to the work; but that would not depreciate his value as a cart horse, for which purpose he was to be used’.”

Sedwick on Damages, Vol. 1, 8th Ed., Sec. 253, page 377:

POSSIBLE FUTURE USE

“The present value of property may be enhanced by the possibility of making a more remunerative use of the property than the present use. Such possible use is to be considered. In *Montana Ry. Co. vs. Warren*, 6 *Mont.* 275, 284 per *Bach J.*, the Supreme Court of Montana said: ‘The respondent was allowed to prove the value of land for town lot purposes. He had the right to do so, whether he had built upon it or not. As we have seen, the question is not to what use the land had been put. The owner has a right to obtain the market value of the land, based upon its availability for the most valuable purposes for which it can be used, whether or not he so

used it.' In *Mississippi & R. R. Boom Co. vs. Paterson*, 98 U. S. 403, 407, the plaintiff in error had taken land of the defendant in error by the right of eminent domain, and compensation was sought in this action. The jury found that the land was worth but \$300 for any other than boom purposes, but a very much larger sum for such purposes, and the Supreme Court of the U. S. held that the larger sum should be awarded. Field J., said: "*In determining the value of land appropriated for public purposes, the same considerations are to be regarded as in a sale of property between private parties.* The inquiry in such cases must be what is the property worth in the market, viewed not merely with reference to the uses to which it is plainly adaptable: that is to say, what is it worth from its availability for valuable uses? Property is not to be deemed worthless because the owner allows it to go to waste, or to be regarded as valueless because he is unable to put it to any use. Others may be able to use it, and make it subserve the necessities or conveniences of life. (Italics ours)

Newark Coal Co. vs. Upson, 40 Ohio St. Rep. 17.

In this case Upson acquired 23 acres of ground and was developing the property for coal when the Newark Coal Company obtained an injunction on the premises. This injunctive proceeding was later voluntarily dismissed and Upson brought this action. The question arose as to what rule should damages be awarded by. C. J. Granger at page 25 said:

"There being no market value of the rights taken from Upson and his associates the only practical rule for setting its value is to follow the

ordinary common-sense practice of business men. Made known to the body charged with the assessments, as fully as legal evidence can do it, all the facts that naturally and materially affect the value of the use of the rights of which the plaintiffs below were wrongfully deprived. These facts necessarily include the location, thickness, quantity and value of the coal that was mineable then, and then, the facilities for transporting that coal to a market; the nature and extent of the demand for that coal, the total expense of placing it in the market (this included also all preliminary expenditures); the competition with which they must contend; the contingencies in the demand and supply of labor; the relation of the 23 acres to other mining lands of Upson and his associates, for which they could use part, or all, of the same approaches, the total cost of the coal to them, and the prices for which it was saleable during the period of suspension; all these facts naturally affecting the value of the right to prosecute that business with that coal, at and from that place, during that time. No one of them is by itself a measure of value. Considered together, some of them add to, others subtract from the value; and then, after such a view, a common sense judgment again subtracts a percentage for the contingencies that are ever presenting themselves in the affairs of men.

Within these facts thus stated is the element of "profit" on possible sales of coal, i.e., the difference between the cost of it and its market price. But it is there not as a measure of values; not in order to be allowed by the jury 'as profits', but to be treated as one of a mass of facts that throws light upon the value of the use of the rights taken from Upson, all of which the jurors ought to have known and considered when computing the damages."

In *Anderson vs. Columbia Contract Co.*, 184 Pac. 240, 94 Oregon 171.

This is a case where the plaintiff sued to recover damages for breaking the fish trap of plaintiff by defendant's tow boat and barges. The question arose as to whether or not evidence was proper as to the catch of the fish in the trap at the time of the damage and whether evidence of the catch of similar traps during the period at which the trap was damaged could be adduced, and also was it proper to allow testimony as to the amount of the catch after the repair of the trap. J. Harris, at page 248 said:

“While the past success of the trap is not controlling, it is nevertheless one of the factors which may be taken into consideration, not as the measure of damages, but to aid the jury in estimating damages. *Post v. Munn*, 4 N. J. Law, 61, 63, 7 Am. Dec. 570; *Wood Transfer Co. v. Shelton*, 180 Ind. 273, 101 N.E. 718. See, also, *Jacobs v. Cromwell*, 216 Mass. 182, 103 N.E. 383.

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