1953

Hyrum Jenkins and Belle Moyle Jenkins v. John B. Morgan et al : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

We shall discuss the two points which plaintiffs designate in their brief as the basis of their claim that the judgment appealed from should be reversed in the order in which the same are mentioned in appellants' brief. It is, of course, elementary that this, being an action at law, the findings of the trial court must be sustained if there is substantial evidence to sustain the same. Such is the mandate of Article 8, Section 9 of our State Constitution, where it provides that the appeal (from District Courts) shall—"in case at law be on questions of law alone." Such is also our statutory law and the repeated and uniform holding of this Court. U. C. A. 1943, 104-41-1 and cases cited in foot notes thereto in Vol. 6, page 392, note 49.

ANSWER TO POINT ONE

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN CONCLUDING THAT THE BASIS FOR DETERMINING THE DAMAGES SHOULD BE THE RENTAL VALUE OF THE LAND AS GRAZING AND NOT AS AGRICULTURAL LAND.

The evidence shows without conflict these facts:

The appeal bond upon which this action is prosecuted was executed on September 2, 1947 (See Exhibit A, which is attached to plaintiffs' Complaint R. 5-8). The Remittitur

affirming the cause was filed in the District Court on Sept. 9, 1948. It is so alleged in plaintiffs' Complaint (R. 4). And so found by the trial court (R. 14). Thus the plaintiffs were deprived of the possession of the land for one year and one week. It was not until Feb. 27, 1948, that the application to appropriate water on the land was approved (See Plaintiffs' Exhibit G). Thus neither the plaintiffs nor Mr. Powelson could lawfully have drilled a well until after Feb. 27, 1948. Moreover, notwithstanding the plaintiffs or Mr. Powelson could have taken possession of the land on or after September 9, 1948, nothing was done by way of drilling a well for water until along in 1949 and did not start breaking up the land until August, 1949 (Tr. 97). The first crop was planted in 1950 (Tr. 98). The plaintiffs parted with their title on December 6, 1948.

It is thus obvious that the land here in question was not and could not have been used as irrigated land during the time it was owned by the plaintiffs. No claim is made or could reasonably be made that water could have been made available for irrigation for the growing season of 1948. That being so, there is no basis for the claim that plaintiffs are entitled to recover damages on the claim that their land should be considered as irrigated agricultural lands during the time that they were the owners thereof.

The difficulty with the claim for damages on the basis that the land in question should be regarded as agricultural lands lies deeper than the fact that no water could lawfully be made available for the irrigation of such lands for the growing season of 1948.

While Mr. Powelson, a witness for plaintiffs, testified that the reasonable rental value of the Jenkins land as dry land was \$10.00 per acre and as irrigated land \$30.00 per

acre, other witnesses testified to the contrary, and the surrounding facts belie any such claimed rental value as that testified to by Powelson.

The testimony in this case, some of which we have heretofore directed to the attention of the Court, shows that there is a large amount of land similar to and in the immediate vicinity of the Jenkins property and including the Jenkins property that has never been devoted to the raising of either dry land or irrigated agricultural crops. Throughout the years such of this land as has been leased brought a rental of up to 15c an acre per annum for use as grazing lands. The Jenkins land was of so little value for any purpose that so far as appears, it had never been rented and Mr. Jenkins stated that he would not spend a dime to retain it. If the land had any such rental value as that now claimed by the appellants, it is, to say the least, extremely unlikely that the owners thereof would not have rented it for some such fabulous price as \$10.00 to \$30.00 per acre, during the time they or their predecessors were the owners thereof. So also if these lands had any such a rental value, it is, to say the least, extremely unlikely that Mr. Jenkins would be willing to sell the same for $\frac{1}{2}$ of income derived therefrom for the year 1948 plus \$500.00 if a flow of two second feet of water was obtained by the drilling of a well. That is all that plaintiffs were to receive for the property under the provisions of the agreement, Plaintiffs' Exhibit B, and if possession could not be obtained by September 1, 1947, and a suit was necessary to recover possession, the plaintiffs were, by the contract, obligated to pay one-half of the court costs and were entitled to only one-half of the amount of the recovery. People with property of a rental value of from \$1600.00 to \$4800.00 a year do not sell their

property for any such pittance as that provided in the agreement, Plaintiffs' Exhibit B. Nor is it likely that one owning property with a rental value of from \$1600.00 to \$4800.00 a year can get off with the payment of an annual general tax of less than \$7.00.

So also if the witness David S. Powelson actually believed that he and plaintiff, Hyrum Jenkins, were entitled to share and share alike damages as provided in Plaintiffs' Exhibit B on the basis of the land having a rental value in the amount testified to by him, it would indeed seem strange that he would be willing to pay the sum of \$50.00 or \$60.00 to get Jenkins to accept the assignment, Exhibit I, and relieve him from further liability, yet that is the effect of his testimony (Tr. 104-105).

Moreover, the testimony of Mr. Powelson to the effect that the Jap was willing to pay \$10.00 for that part of the Jenkins land that was not supplied with water and \$30.00 for that which was supplied with water is so improbable that the Court might well have disbelieved the same. It is apparent that the Jap could have rented land without water apparently as good as the Jenkins land for a few cents per acre. There was no land in the immediate neighborhood of the Jenkins land that had been demonstrated to be profitable for raising dry land grain. On the contrary, Albert Morgan had gone \$27.00 behind in the operation of 40 acres of dry land in the immediate vicinity of the Jenkins property (Tr. 124). So far as appears, the conversation had with the Jap, testified to by Mr. Powelson, may have been just loose talk. In any event, the Jap did not, so far as is made to appear, examine the land, and the witness Powelson conveniently had the Jap in California at the time of the trial.

Still another fatal weakness to plaintiffs' claim of a right to damages on the basis that the land here involved was fit for raising agricultural crops is the fact that it would be a matter of pure speculation as to whether or not such use would be profitable. Plaintiffs' principal witness, David S. Powelson, so testified (Tr. 100-101).

During the trial, counsel for the plaintiffs stated that the present action was to recover the value of the use of the property as agricultural ground and not for profits that might be derived from its operation (Tr. 111). However, considerable evidence was received over objection of counsel for the defendants which was directed to the question of profits, and some of the cases cited by counsel for plaintiffs in their brief are directed to the question of profits. Indeed some of the language quoted, such as that from the case of *Park v. Moorman Mfg. Co., et al*, 241 Pac. (2d) 1914, quoted on page 11 of appellants' brief, would seem to indicate that plaintiffs claim the right to recover damages without regard to whether such damages are on the theory of rental value or prospective profits and also without regard to how uncertain, contingent or speculative such damages might be. However, in the case of *Moorhead v. Minneapolis Seed Co.*, 165 N. W. 484, L. R. A. 1918 C 391, cited and quoted from on page 11 of appellants' brief, it will be seen that damages that may properly be awarded must be "free of uncertain, contingent, conjectural or speculative elements." The authorities generally teach that "a party to a contract who is injured by another's breach of the contract, is entitled to recover from the latter damages for all injuries and only such injuries as are the direct, natural and proximate result of the breach, or which in the ordinary course of events would likely result from a breach

and can reasonably be said to have been foreseen, contemplated, or expected by the parties at the time when they made the contract as a probable or natural result of a breach, including gains prevented as well as losses sustained." 15 Am. Jur. Sec. 51, page 449-450, and cases cited in the foot notes.

Another rule applied by the courts as to the measure of damages is thus expressed in 15 Am. Jur. Sec. 55, page 459:

"In general, it may be said that in measuring the damages for the breach of a contract, a supposedly successful collateral operation that a party might have made if he had not been prevented from realizing the proceeds of the contract at the time stipulated cannot be taken into consideration. This is the rule not only because of the uncertain and contingent issue of such an operation in itself, but because it has no legal or necessary connection with the stipulations between the parties, and cannot therefore be presumed to have entered into their consideration at the time of contracting. It has accordingly been held that the loss of any speculation or enterprise in which a party may have embarked, relying on the proceeds to be derived from the fulfillment of an existing contract, constitutes no part of the damages to be recovered in case of breach, and no recovery can be had for losses resulting from inability to make or carry out a collateral contract, such as the loss of anticipated profits, or for expenses incurred in preparation for its performance, where the party breaking the original contract had not notice of the existing or contemplated collateral agreement."

As to the recovery of profits the law is thus stated in 15 Am. Jur. Sec. 152, page 564:

"To warrant a recovery for loss of profits in an action for breach of a contract, it must be made to ap-

pear that such loss of profits was the natural and proximate, not the remote, result or consequence of the breach of the contract and such as may reasonably be supposed to have been within the contemplation of the parties when the contract was made as the probable result of its breach. It is further necessary that it be reasonably certain that profits would have been realized except for the breach of the contract. When prospective profits are remote, conjectural and speculative, they cannot be said to be the direct and unavoidable result of the breach and cannot be recovered."

Numerous cases are cited in the foot notes to the text, which support the same.

Applying the doctrine announced in the foregoing text and the cases cited in the foot notes, there would seem to be no escape from the conclusion that it was at best a matter of speculation as to whether any profits would or could be realized from devoting the land here involved for raising cultivated crops. No success had theretofore been made on any lands in that immediate vicinity and there had been some failures, notably that of Albert Morgan on land adjacent to the Jenkins land (Tr. 124).

We have probably needlessly digressed somewhat from the theory upon which this case was tried and decided. As heretofore pointed out, counsel for the plaintiffs stated at the trial that plaintiffs sought to recover the reasonable rental value of the property and not any profits that might have been realized.

That the sole basis of the recovery by the plaintiffs is the reasonable rental value of the land is further borne out by the bond which provides that if the judgment is affirmed the sureties will be liable for the payment of damages "occasioned by waste and the value of the use and occupancy of

the property from the time of the appeal until the delivery of possession thereof to said plaintiff." The provisions of the supersedeas bond just quoted is in conformity with Rule 73d of Utah Rules of Civil Precedure.

In light of the fact that the land involved in this litigation was not fenced, was in its native state, covered with sagebrush, native grasses and weeds; that such land as had been devoted to raising of dry wheat in the immediate vicinity of these lands had proven a failure; that no permit had been granted, or was granted until the year 1948 by the State Engineer to drill a well for water, and the fact that before the land could be broken up and planted to crops and water secured to irrigate the same it was necessary to spend several thousand dollars and even then the venture might well prove a failure, it is, to say the least, extremely improbable that anyone would pay a rental of more than that awarded by the trial court for the use of the land during the one year and one week that elapsed between the time the supersedeas bond was executed and the time the plaintiffs were restored to the possession of the land. Certain it is that David S. Powelson was not willing, or if he was he did not undertake to pay the plaintiffs any such rental as that to which he testified was the reasonable rental thereof.

Further as to that, even though this Court should not agree with the findings of the trial court, such fact does not authorize this Court to reverse the findings of the trial court in this, an action at law. In this connection, it may be noted that the finder of the facts is not bound to believe opinion or evidence as to the rental value of a tract of land even if such evidence is uncontradicted.

We have read the cases and authorities cited by appellants. So far as we can find, none of them announce any other or different doctrine than is announced in the general principles of law stated by the authorities which we have heretofore quoted. That being so, no useful purpose will be served by a detailed discussion of such cases. At the bottom of page 17 of appellants' brief, the statement is made that plaintiffs should be awarded a judgment for damages for a period of two years. It is said that it was physically impossible to break the ground until September 9, 1948, at which time it was impossible to break the ground for the 1949 crop. If it was impossible to break the ground for the 1949 crop after September 9, 1948, it necessarily follows that it was impossible to break the ground after September 2, 1947, for the 1948 crop. It will be seen that the plaintiffs were deprived of the use of the land only one week more than one year.

There is a total absence of any evidence that the rental value of the property in question for one week is equivalent to its rental value for a whole year or that plaintiffs sustained damage for a whole year because defendants had possession of the land for a week beyond the year.

An attempt was made to show that a man was available to break up the land in September of 1947, but was not available in September of 1948. Obviously, the availability or lack of availability, even if contrary to defendants' evidence, if true, such fact is not a proper element to consider in awarding damages.

ANSWER TO POINT II

THE COURT DID NOT ERR IN STRIKING THE TESTIMONY OF PLAINTIFFS AND THEIR WTNESSES TOUCHING THE QUESTION OF WHAT HAS BEEN DONE WITH THIS PROPERTY SINCE THE DEED WAS MADE FROM JENKINS TO POWELSON AND TROTTER ON DECEMBER 6, 1948, OR IN STRIKING ALL OF THE TESTIMONY PERTAINING TO AN ORAL CONTRACT OR CONVERSATION BETWEEN POWELSON AND THE JAP, WHICH WAS RECEIVED AS BEARING ON THE RENTAL VALUE OR VALUE OF THE USE OF THE PROPERTY (Tr. 262).

Beginning on page 18 of appellants' brief, complaint is made because the court struck some evidence which plaintiffs claim to be pertinent to determine the use of the property involved in this action. While the appellants fail to point out with particularity the evidence which they claim was improperly stricken, we assume it was the testimony above referred to. There seems to be no other testimony stricken that could be meant.

We have no quarrel with the statement of counsel for plaintiffs to the effect that one who is deprived of the use of his property is entitled to damages on the basis of the reasonable rental value of his property when used for the most profitable use for which the property is adapted. We, however, are unable to see how that fact supports plaintiffs' claim that the Court should consider facts that occurred after plaintiffs had been put into possession of their property and after they had parted with their title to the property. So far as appears, there was no one in the Goshen Valley or interested in renting land therein who was

possessed of the attainments of a clairvoyant. As we have heretofore pointed out in this brief, plaintiffs are, according to their pleading and the statement of their counsel, seeking to recover the reasonable rental value of their land during the time they were deprived of the use thereof. That is to say, such rental as a person who is willing but not required to rent will pay in a transaction or lease agreement with one who is willing but not required to let the land.

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